FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 22 1996

In The Supreme Court of Floridacies, auster court

Stan Deputy Stork

NO. 87,717

ERIC SCOTT BRANCH,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S MERIT BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit

FRED PARKER BINGHAM II Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0869058

Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

Counsel for Petitioner

April 22, 1996

 \mathbf{F}

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,717

ERIC SCOTT BRANCH,

Petitioner,

v.

Ŷ

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

1. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court certified the following question to this Court regarding the application of this Court's decision in *Coney v. State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

The district court did not address the issue, denominated "Issue II" herein, in its opinion although the issue was argued to that court. Petitioner also seeks review of that issue.

The district court further determined that the Indiana crime of "sexual battery" was not analogous to the crime of sexual battery for the purposes of imposing a habitual violent felony offender sentence because each crime requires elements that the other does not. The district court reversed the imposition of the habitual violent felony offender sentence, remanding for resentencing. Petitioner does not seek review of that decision.

2. <u>History of Proceedings</u>

Mr. Branch was charged with sexual battery, in violation of § 794.011(5), Fla. Stat., by Information on January 20, 1993 [R. 11]. The Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Branch on January 23, 1993 [R. 17]. However, until March 3, 1993, appellant was represented by Christopher N. Patterson [R. 92]. Patterson moved to withdraw [R. 91-92], which was granted and the Public Defender appointed [R. 97]. An amended information charging sexual battery, in violation of 794.011(3) was filed on March 1, 1993 [R. 96].¹

On March 5, 1993, appellant moved for an order appoint an expert to assist the defense regarding issues of competency and sanity [R. 99]. The motion was granted April 2, 1993, appointing Dr. Harry McLaren [R. 101].

A waiver of speedy trial was filed by the defendant on May 18, 1993 [R. 104].

On June 21, 1993, the court ordered the accused to undergo HIV testing [R. 106].

On July 14, 1994, the defendant filed a motion for statement of particulars [R. 113]. On August 8, 1994, the court took the motion for bill of particulars under advisement [R. 120].

On August 9, 1994, the state filed a "Notice of Violet [sic] Habitual Felony Offender Status." This notice did not identify the prior convictions upon which the state would rely to establish eligibility for sentencing as a habitual violent felony offender. [R. 121].

On September 19, 1994, the defendant filed a motion to suppress evidence ("blood and other body samples," and evidence seized from a motor vehicle) [R. 124].²

On that date, the defendant also filed a motion to dismiss the amended

¹This information charged oral, anal and vaginal penetration by an object (a flashlight) and/or penile union with the use of force likely to cause serious personal injury [R. 96].

²This motion was denied by a written order on October 10, 1994 [R. 141], following a hearing on the motion on September 27, 1994 [T. 229-240].

information as it alleged force "likely to cause serious personal injury" wherein the original information had alleged force "not likely to cause serious personal injury." [R. 126].

On September 27, 1994, the state filed another Amended Information, alleging sexual battery in violation of 794.011(3), Fla. Stat., with the actual use of physical force likely to cause serious personal injury.³

On October 4, 1994, the defendant filed another Motion for Statement of Particulars [R. 138].

On October 12, 1994, the defendant filed a motion in limine to exclude any testimony or purported results of DNA testing [R. 145-46].⁴ The state moved to strike the motion as untimely [R. 157-58]. On October 18, 1994, the state filed a written response to the defendant's motion in limine regarding DNA [R. 163-167].

Following a trial by jury, Mr. Branch was found guilty of sexual battery without physical force, a lesser included offense (2d degree felony) on October 21, 1994 [R. 186].

On October 31, 1994, the defendant filed a motion for new trial [R. 189-190].

On November 15, 1994, the court found that the defendant did not receive the state's notice of habitual violent felony offender status, but that the defendant was given notice thereof as of that date. The court denied the motion for new trial. [R. 193].

³This information alleged penile union of penetration with the anus, vagina or mouth, or the penetration of the anus or vagina by an object [R. 129].

⁴The motion was also refiled on October 13, 1994 [R. 155-56].

On November 18, 1994, the court found the defendant to be a habitual violent felony offender. The court's finding that the defendant was a habitual *violent* felony offender was based upon a conviction for the offense of "sexual battery" in the Vanderburgh (Indiana) Circuit Court (Case No. 82CO1-9110-CF-0628) on April 30, 1992 [see SR., State's Exhibit 2 and 3].⁵

On November 18, 1994, the court imposed a sentence of 30 years with a minimum sentence of 10 years as a habitual violent felony offender, with credit for 666 days. The sentence was ordered served consecutive to any other active sentencing being served. [R. 197-202]. On November 21, 1994, the court entered an order determining the defendant to be a habitual violent felony offender. The order is noted

[O]n or abut October 15, 1991, Eric S. Branch, did with the intent to arouse and satisfy his own sexual desires, touch another person, to-wit: Tiffany Pierce, the said Tiffany Pierce being compelled to submit to the touching by force, to-wit: covering the mouth of Tiffany Pierce and forcing her to the ground and telling Tiffany Pierce not to scream, contrary to the form of the statutes in such cases made and provided by I.C. 35-42-4-8....

[SR., State's Exhibit 3, page 1].

As to Indiana Case 82D02-8909-CF-00392, the state provided two certified "Abstract of Judgment." One shows a conviction of robbery and theft on May 22, 1990. The other in the same case shows only a conviction of theft (count II), with robbery dismissed (count I). The accompanying docket entries in that case for May 22, 1990, show that the robbery count was dismissed and Mr. Branch was convicted of theft upon entry of a plea of guilty to that count only. [SR, State's Exhibit 3, pages 8, 9 and 11].

⁵The information in Indiana Case No. 82CO1-9110-CF-0628 alleged as to Count 5, that:

as "nunc pro tunc November 18, 1994." [R. 203].⁶

On November 30, 1994, Mr. Branch filed a timely Notice of Appeal [R. 205]. Appellant was found insolvent and the public defender was appointed to represent him on appeal on December 1, 1994 [R. 213].

2. <u>Statement of the Facts</u>

Challenging of the Jury

The record shows that during jury selection, the court requested that **counsel** approach the bench. Mr. Adams, defense counsel, requested a moment with his client. [T. 65]. Then, at the bench, the defense exercised peremptory challenges. At one point, defense counsel, when asked if he would strike more people, stated, "[L]et me talk to my client. I'll be right back." [T. 66]. Counsel then exercised further peremptory strikes [T. 66]. After announcing the names of those excused to the jury, the court inquired whether the jury was acceptable to defense counsel [T. 69]. The record affirmatively shows that no inquiries were made to Mr. Branch regarding the jury or the strikes made by defense counsel or regarding Mr. Branch's presence at the sidebar during the challenging process.

<u>The Facts Concerning the Incident⁷</u>

At trial the contested issue was whether sex between the victim and the

⁶The written order fails to specifically identify the prior convictions upon which the court's findings are based [R. 203].

⁷The testimony and evidence was much more extensive than that summarized her, but the other testimony and evidence is not relevant to the issues raised in this case, thus is not detailed here.

defendant was consensual. In his opening statement to the jury, defense counsel stated that the evidence would show that the sexual relations between the victim and defendant were consensual [T. 111]. Both the victim and the defendant testified on the question of consent, taking opposing positions.

The victim testified she met Mr. Branch at the "Spinnaker," a bar and eatery, on New Year's Eve [T. 122-123]. She had gone there with friends, but later was in need of a ride home [T. 164]. She was to leave with a Bill Mallory, but Mallory had met another woman that evening [T. 124, 167-168]. Her other friends had already left [T. 170]. Mr. Branch offered to take her home [T. 124]. She had enough money for cab fare home [T. 169]. She had met Mr. Branch twice before and knew his first name [T. 124, 164]. They left together about 3:30 a.m. [T. 125]. They proceeded to Mr. Branch's condominium [T. 126]. Branch suggested she come up. She did. [T. 127]. They walked up three flights to the apartment [T. 174].

Branch ate some salad, offering Ms. Humpich something to eat, which she declined [T. 129]. Branch put on some music [T. 195]. She testified the music was fine [T. 196]. She stated that Branch shoved her down on a couch, during which she received a laceration on her face [T. 130]. She went into the bathroom to wipe the blood off on a washcloth [T. 130]. She was fully dressed when she went into the bathroom [T. 181].

She said she then tried to run out the front door, but Branch caught her and they fought; she was screaming and Branch put his hand in her mouth, gouging an area inside her mouth [T. 131]. She then took all of her clothes off because, she said, she did not want him ripping or tearing her clothes [T. 133, 182]. She took off her pantyhose and panties while standing [T. 182]. She took off her skirt. She took off her bustier⁸ [T. 188]. Then Mr. Branch also took off his clothes [T. 133]. When Mr. Branch took off his pants, she was fully unclothed and standing [T. 199].

They had vaginal sexual intercourse on the couch [T. 133]. He also place his penis in her mouth and anus. She did not know if he ejaculated. [T. 134]. Then, she said, Branch sodomized her with a flashlight [T. 135]. Afterward, she dressed, except for her pantyhose, and allowed Branch to drive her home [T. 136-137, 190].⁹

During the cross-examination of the victim, defense counsel established that Ms. Humpich had always previously referred to her injuries as scratches, but now called them lacerations [T. 176]. Counsel then asked Ms. Humpich whether she had a lawyer, to which the state objected. At the bench, the prosecution noted that the victim had filed a lawsuit in Indiana and in Pensacola. Defendant counsel stated that he wanted to determine whether the victim had been coached as to certain terminology used during her testimony, saying lacerations as opposed to scratches. [T. 176]. The objection was sustained [T. 177]. Defense counsel also argued that he was entitled to ask about the lawyer and why. The court against sustained the objection [T. 177]. Ms.

⁸This item of apparel is spelled variously throughout the transcripts. The word used here appears to the be correct terminology for this garment, courtesy of *Victoria*'s *Secret*.

⁹She said she actually had him drop her off about three houses away from her home [T. 137].

Humpich then stated she had seen the term "lacerations" in a medical report about her [T. 177].

Defense counsel moved for a judgement of acquittal as to the charge of sexual battery with great physical injury arguing there had been no evidence of great bodily harm or pain or permanent disability or disfigurement adduced to support that charge, and arguing that only simple sexual battery without great bodily harm should be submitted to the jury [T. 517]. The motion was denied [T. 520].¹⁰ Counsel requested two special instructions on consent, which the court took under advisement [T. 520].

Mr. Branch testified. He stated he recognized Lisa Humpich, who had testified [T. 529]. Essentially, Mr. Branch testified that while at his apartment he kissed her and it went from that. She didn't stop kissing. She never said no. She never said she didn't want it. [T. 551]. He had been rubbing on her and kissing her [T. 552 After they started kissing, she asked if he wanted he clothes off, and Branch said yeah. [T. 551]. She took her own clothes off [T. 552]. He had sex with her. [T. 556]. They had sex in different positions, starting on the couch, but ended up on the floor [T. 564]. He did not remember the anal sex, but said it evidently happened [T. 556]. He denied using a flashlight on her [T. 556].

They got dressed. He helped her fasten her bustier because she couldn't snap it [T. 557]. He took her home, which was about a block away [T. 558].

¹⁰The court thereafter instructed the jury on sexual battery with great bodily injury or force [T. 632-633]. During deliberations, the jury sent out a note stating, "We need a clarification of the charges and the question is what is the charge of sodomy?" [T. 644]. With the defendant's agreement, the court re-read the instructions defining the offenses (including lesser offenses) [T. 646-651].

The jury returned a verdict of guilty of sexual battery without actual physical force likely to cause serious personal injury, a lesser included offense [T. 652].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I — This is the issue which is before this Court as a certified question. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling between the time of Coney's trial, yet before the decision was rendered in *Coney v State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted Coney. This is true whether *Coney* is considered to be "new law" or not.

At the very least, the law which preceded *Coney*, and upon which *Coney* was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief.

In *Coney*, the state conceded that Coney's absence during for-cause challenging of the jury was error under *Francis v. State*, but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here — the same factual scenario — is not error.

Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, whether peremptory challenges were made or not. If they were made, they may not have been the ones Petitioner wanted. If they were not made, he may have wanted them to have been — including possible back-strikes. This Court has no way to access the damage done to the Petitioner.

There is error, it is harmful, and as it is impossible to access the consequences, the harmful error is prejudicial. Thus, the answer to the certified question must be in the affirmative, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial. **ISSUE II** — The trial court improperly restricted the appellant's cross-examination of the victim for interest or bias when the court precluded appellant from eliciting that the victim's testimony had been structured by her civil attorney and that the victim had filed civil suits for monetary damages against the appellant. The credibility of the victim and the appellant were the disputed issues in the case given that the defense to the charges of sexual battery was one of consent.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE ACCUSED WAS INVOLUNTARILY ABSENT FROM THE SIDEBAR WHEN PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WERE EXERCISED DURING THE CHALLENGING OF THE JURY. THERE IS NO RECORD OF A KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY WAIVER OF HIS PRESENCE. THERE IS NO RECORD THAT PETITIONER RATIFIED OR APPROVED THE PEREMPTORY STRIKES. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE ANY INQUIRY AS TO WHETHER PETITIONER'S ABSENCE WAS VOLUNTARY OR WHETHER HE APPROVED OR RATIFIED THE STRIKES. THE COURT FURTHER FAILED TO CERTIFY THAT PETITIONER'S ABSENCE WAS VOLUN-TARY OR THAT HE RATIFIED THE PEREMPTORY STRIKES. THE INVOLUNTARY ABSENCE OF PETITIONER AT A CRITICAL STAGE OF TRIAL WAS A CLEAR VIOLATION OF RULE 3.180 AND A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

The district court certified the following question to this Court:

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

The First District Court of Appeal concluded that the holding of this Court in *Coney v. State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), that a "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" does not apply retrospectively to pipeline cases. The district court did not reach or discuss the issue raised by petitioner that, notwithstanding the question of whether *Coney* applied in his case, a new trial is necessary under this Court's decisions in *Francis v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), and *Turner v. State*, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987).

In addition to the question certified, Petitioner respectfully urges this Court to also unambiguously clarify whether it intended its holding in *Coney* that a "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" to be prospective only, or whether the Court's statement that its "ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only" was meant to apply only to the remainder of the paragraph which follows the first sentence. In *Coney*, this Court said:

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. See Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982). Where this is impractical, such as where a bench conference is required, the defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. In such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. Alternatively, the defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made. See State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of the strikes through proper inquiry. Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Id. at 1013.

Petitioner contends that whether or not *Coney* is a clarification of existing law or new law, it nonetheless must be applied to pipeline cases.¹¹ Even were *Coney* not applied in this case, the rule of procedure and case law preceding *Coney* must be applied in the same manner as they were in *Coney* in the instant case.

A. Facts of the Case.

The record shows that during jury selection, the court requested that **counsel**

¹¹This Court should also be aware that this issue has been raised and briefed in depth in (*Lazaro*) Martinez v. State, Case No. 85,450, and addressed at oral argument in Boyett v. State, Case No. 81,971.

approach the bench. Mr. Adams, defense counsel, requested a moment with his client. [T. 65]. Then, at the bench, the defense exercised peremptory challenges. At one point, defense counsel, when asked if he would strike more people, stated, "[L]et me talk to my client. I'll be right back." [T. 66]. Counsel then exercised further peremptory strikes [T. 66]. After announcing the names of those excused to the jury, the court inquired whether the jury was acceptable to defense counsel [T. 69]. The record affirmatively shows that no inquiries were made to Mr. Branch regarding the jury or the strikes made by defense counsel or regarding Mr. Branch's presence at the sidebar during the challenging process.

- Nowhere is it reflected the petitioner was informed of his right to be present at the bench.
- Petitioner was **not** present at the bench.
- Nowhere does the trial court **inquire** if the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary.
- Nowhere in the record does petitioner state he is waiving his right to be present.
- Nowhere does the trial court **certify** that the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary or that petitioner waived his right to be present after a proper inquiry by the court.
- Nowhere does the trial court ask the petitioner to **ratify** the choice of jurors made by his counsel, nor does petitioner ratify the peremptory challenges made by counsel on the record.

B. <u>Coney and Pre-Coney Law</u>

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