PRE J I I M ~ Y  STATEMENT 

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First 

District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the 

trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the 

prosecution, or  the State. Petitioner, Eric Scott Branch, the 

Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant 

in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as 

Petitioner or his proper name. 

The symbol IIR1' will refer to the record on appeal, and the 

symbol llT1' will refer to the transcript of the trial court's 

proceedings; 'IIB" will designate the Initial Brief of Petitioner.

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

therefore, this Court has discretion to exercise jurisdiction. 

The District Court of Appeal of Florida, 
a 

Exercise of Jurisdiction 

While this Court has jurisdiction to answer this question 

certified by the lower tribunal, it also has the discretion to 

decline to do so. , 326 So.2d 441 (Fla. 19761, 

u, 134 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1961) The state urges this 

Court to exercise its discretion and decline to review this case 

c o f f i n  v. State, 374 So.2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1979) 

-6- 



The District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, _ _  

granted rehearing of its original opinion in order to certify 

this question. The certified question improperly asks this Court 

to conduct a rehearing of its decision in m e v  v. S t a t p  , 653 

So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995). In Conev, this Court interpreted 

rule 3.180(a) F. R. Crim. P. and stated that: 

Our ruling today clarifying this issue is 
prospective only. 

Id. at 1013 

In certifying its question, the district court acknowledged 

that it understood the meaning of the language used by this Court 

in Coney: prospective means the decision does not apply to cases 

tried prior to the decision. The decision below questioned how 

the Coney decision can be reconciled with S t h  v. 

So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992). In order to resolve what it perceived as 

State , 5 9 8  

an unanswered issue, the district court certified the question. 

The district court’s perception that an issue remains to be 

resolved is erroneous. Subsequent to the Smith decision, this 

Court has answered the question of how decisions of this Court 

are to be applied by the courts of this state. The issue was 

specifically addressed in , 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 

19941, where this Court addressed the proper reading of Smith and 

- 7 -  



held that Srnjt.h means that new points of law established by this 

Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final 

cases unless this Court says otherwise. The issue was discussed 

in pomberg v .  State , 661 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1995) a case dealing 

with retroactivity. In gemhers, this Court referred to M t h  in 

the following way: 

-, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), limited by 
Wuornos v. State , 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n . 4  (Fla. 
1994)(Smith read to mean that new points of law 
established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective 
with respect t o  a l l  non-final cases unless this Court 

, 115 S.Ct. says otherwise), cert. denied - U.S. - 
1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (19951, State-, 485 So.2d 
1283 (Fla. 1986) 

W e r q  at 287 

Thus, the issue of how Smith is to be read has been decided. 
0 

Since the issue presented by the certified question has been 

put to rest by recent decisions of this Court, it cannot be said 

that the certified question is one of any public importance. 

Therefore, this Cour t  should decline to exercise its jurisdiction 

to answer the already decided question presented by this case. 

See Ptein. 

There is a second reason why this Court should decline to 

exercise its jurisdiction in this case. As part of its reason to 

certify the issue, the district court noted that there were 

- 8 -  



numerous Conev-type cases in the pipeline. This statement 

misapplies the definition of a pipeline case entitled to obtain 

the benefit from a new decision. A pipeline case is one in which 

the issue is properly preserved in an appeal which is not final 

at the time the change in law occurs. In order to be a pipeline 

case, an appellant must establish that he is similarly situated 

and his issue is properly preserved. This was made clear by this 

Court’s holding in G ibson v .  State , 661 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1995). 

There this Court held that issues relating to a defendant’s 

presence during jury voir dire (like other jury voir dire issues) 

must be preserved in the trial court by contemporaneous 

0 objection. The Gibson case presented this Court on appeal with 

the following issue: 

Gibson claims error in two respects. First, he argues 
that the trial court violated his right to be present 
with counsel during the challenging of jurors by 
conducting the challenges in a bench conference. 
Second, he argues that the trial court violated his 
right to the assistance of counsel by denying defense 
counsel’s request to consult with Gibson before 
exercising peremptory challenges. 

This Court specifically held that: 

In Stejnho rst v. State , 412 So.2d 332 ( F l a .  1982), we 
said that, “in order for an argument to be cognizable 
on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted 
as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion 
below.” In this case, we find that Gibson’s lawyer did 
not raise the issue that is now being asserted on 
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appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client 
over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not 
convey this to the trial court. On the record, he 
asked for  an afternoon recess for the general purpose 
of meeting with his client. Further, there is no 
indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or 
limited in any way from consulting with his counsel 
concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this 
record, no objection to the court’s procedure was ever 
made. In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error 
nor prejudice on the record before this Court. Cf. 
Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995) 

Gibscrn at 290-291 

Thus, Gibson‘s attempt to raise for the first time on appeal a 

Coney issue was rejected because it was not properly preserved. 

This rule of law operates independently of C n n w  and applies even 

to cases where the trial takes place after Coney issued. 

Likewise, petitioner did not object in the trial court and his 

case is indistinguishable from m w n .  Indeed, the record does 

not reflect that petitioner was not at the sidebar during the 

exercise of peremptory challenges. (T 62) 

This Court should discourage the promiscuous certification of 

irrelevant questions by declining to exercise its discretionary 

jurisdiction and by instructing the district courts that 

unpreserved claims cannot be the basis for ‘an issue of great 

public importance.” Misapplication of the  designation “this is 

an issue of great public importance“ when the issue certified 
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could not provide the defendant with relief is all too common. 

In fact, this \\Coney/1 issue has been repeatedly certified by the 

lower tribunal in cases which do not contain any objection to 

the trial court procedure. See Branch v. State, No 87,717, Bell 

v. .St.ate, v. State , No. 87,716, &it v .  State, No. 87,541, Jlee 

No. 87,715, Born v. S t a t e  , No. 8 7 , 7 8 9  Continuation of this 

practice should be discouraged. 

Merits 

This Court, if it exercises discretionary review, should 

answer the certified question in the negative. 

This Court specifically answered the question of how its 

, 644 So.2d decisions are to be applied in, e.g., unrnos v. State 

1000 (Fla. 1994), where this Court addressed the proper reading 

of Smith and held that smith means that new points of law 

established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with 

respect to a l l  non-final cases d e s s  this Court  says otherwise. 

The Court noted that it had repeatedly held that it had the 

authority to make new rules prospective and cited a series of 

cases in which it had dictated that the new rule was to be 

0 

prospective only. 
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The issue was again addressed in p o r n b e r m ,  661 So.2d 

285 (Fla. 1995) a case dealing with retroactivity. In Pomberq, 

this Court referred to a in t h e  following way: 

Pmith v. State , 598 So.2d 1 0 6 3  (Fla. 19921, limited by 
yuornos v. State , 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n.4 (Fla. 
1994) (Smith read to mean that new points of law 
established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective 
with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court 
says otherwise), cert. denied U.S. ___ , 115 S.Ct. 
1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (19951, State v. Jones , 485 So.2d 
1283 (Fla. 1986) 

pomberq at 287 

Petitioner’s arguments are based on a fundamental 

misunderstanding of the nature and scope of t h i s  Court’s 

authority. Unlike the United States Supreme Court’ this Court 0 
has the authority to promulgate procedural rules and modify them 

when necessary. For obvious reasons, changes to procedural rules 

are almost always prospective. Tuc ker v. State , 357 So.2d 719 

(Fla. 1978) Thus, there will be many occasions for this Court’s 

rulings to be prospective only. Adopting a rule akin to the 

United States Supreme Court rule in Griffin v. Kent uckv ’ 479 U.S. 

314 (1987) would be inappropriate given this Court‘s rulemaking 

authority and would unduly restrict the Courts ability to modify 

the rules. 

- 12 - 



This approach is also appropriate given t h e  subject of this 

litigation. Like the decision in R.J.A v. Foster , 603 So.2d 1167 

(Fla. 1992) where the Court found the procedural rule superseded 

the statutory juvenile speedy trial provision, rule 3.180 

superseded the provisions of § 914.01 Fla. Statutes. See Thomas 

v. State, 65 So.2d 866, 868(Fla. 1953) Thus, the rule is a 

procedural mechanism to implement a substantive right. 

It must also be recognized that t h e  rights provided in the 

rule and the rights mandated by the constitution are not 

synonymous. In m i n e r  v. State , 452 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1984) this 

Court held that it was not fundamental error when a defendant was 

absent from bench conferences because he was present in the 

courtroom. Likewise, in m e s  v. Stat-.e , 569 So.2d 1234, (Fla. 

1990), this Court found PO error when Jones was not at the 

sidebar during selection of the jury even though the record did 

not reflect an affirmative waiver. 

Thus, the Coney interpretation of the term present is not 

constitutionally mandated but a modification of a rule of 

procedure setting out the manner in which the constitutional 

right should be implemented. See R.J.A. 

Reading the rule in this fashion is in accord with federal 

practice. The United States law regarding this issue was a 
- 1 3 -  



summarized in Unjtedt.es v. McCov I 8 F.3d 495, 496 (7th Cir. 

1993) : 

[ 2 ]  A defendant's right to be present at trial 
derives from several sources. First, the defendant has 
a sixth amendment right to confront witnesses or 
evidence against him. See United States v. Gagnon, 470 
U.S. 522, 526, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 1484, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 
(1985) (per curiam); Verdin v. O'Leary, 972 F.2d 1467, 
1481 (7th Cir.1992); United States v. Shukitis, 877 
F.2d 1322, 1329 (7th Cir.1989). That right is not 
implicated here, because no witness or evidence against 
McCoy was presented at any of the conferences. See 
Verdin, 972 F.2d at 1481-82. 

[31 The defendant also has a due process right to be 
present I t  'whenever his presence has a relation, 
reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his 
opportunity to defend against the charge. 'I Gagnon, 
470 U.S. at 526, 105 S.Ct. at 1484 (quoting Snyder v. 
Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105-06, 54 S.Ct. 330, 332, 
78 L.Ed. 674 (1934)). But 'the presence of a 
defendant is a condition of due process to the extent 
that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his 
absence, and to that extent only.' Id. (quoting 
Snyder, 291 U.S. at 107-08, 54 S.Ct. at 3 3 3 ) ;  see a lso  
Verdin, 972 F.2d at 1481-82; United States v, Moore, 

- - - -  , 112 S.Ct. 607, 116 L.Ed.2d 630 (1991); Shukitis, 
877 F.2d at 1329-30. That determination is made in 
light of the record as a whole. Gagnon, 470 U . S .  at 
526-27, 105 S.Ct. at 1484. 

936 F.2d 1508, 1523 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, - - -  U.S. 

In Gagnon, the Supreme Court found that defendants' 
due process rights were not violated when they were 
excluded from an in camera conference between the 
judge, defense counsel and a juror regarding the 
juror's possible bias. 
the fact that the defendants I1could have done nothing 
had they been at the conference, nor would they have 
gained anything by attendin9.I' Id. at 527, 105 S.Ct. 
at 1485. In Shukitis, we similarly held that a 

The Court based its holding on 
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defendant's due process rights were not implicated when 
he was excluded from an in camera conference that 
addressed a separation of witnesses order. We reasoned 
that the absence did not affect the court's ability to 
decide the issue or otherwise diminish Shukitis' 
ability to defend against the charges, and that 
Shukitisl interests were adequately protected by his 
counsel's presence at the conference. 877 F.2d at 
1330. See also Moore, 936 F.2d at 1523. 

As in Gagnon and Shukitis, McCoy's absence from the 
conferences did not detract from his defense or in any 
other way affect the fundamental fairness of his trial. 
Indeed, McCoy seems to have conceded this point, having 
offered no argument to the contrary. Like Shukitis, 
McCoy's interests were sufficiently protected by his 
counsel's presence at the conferences. 
had no due process right to attend. 

McCoy therefore 

[ 4 ]  Finally, Fed.R.Crim.P. 43 entitles defendants to 
be present Itat every stage of the trial including the 
impaneling of the jury.. * . I 1  (FN1) This right is 
broader than t h e  constitutional right (Shukitis, 877 
F.2d at 1330), but is waived if the defendant does not 
assert it. Reversing the Ninth Circuit in Gagnon, the 
Supreme Court explained: 

We disagree with the Court of Appeals that failure to 
object is irrelevant to whether a defendant had 
voluntarily absented himself under Rule 43 from an in 
camera conference of which he is aware. The district 
court need not get an express Iton the record" waiver 
from the defendant for every trial conference which a 
defendant may have a right to attend . . . .  A defendant 
knowing of such a discussion must assert whatever right 
he may have under Rule 43 to be present. 

470 U.S. at 528, 105 S.Ct. at 1485; cf. Taylor v. 
United States, 414 U.S. 17, 18-20, 94 S.Ct. 194, 
195-96, 38 L.Ed.2d 174 (1973) (per curiam). A 
defendant may not assert a Rule 43 right for  the first 
time on appeal. Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 529, 105 S.Ct. at 
1485; Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330. Because McCoy did 
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not invoke Rule 43 either during trial or in a 
post-trial motion, he has waived any right under that 
rule. (FN2) 

Because of the availability of consultation between a lawyer 

and his client present for trial, there is no due process 

violation when a defendant is not present at the bench during a 

sidebar for peremptory challenges. See, M m ,  United, S t e s  a V. 

Gayl~n, 1 F.3d 7 3 5  (8th Cir. 1993), U t e d  States v. MOOP , 936 

F.2d 1 5 0 8 ,  1523 (7th Cir. 19911, -/ 742 

F.2d 1335 (11th Cir. 1984)  Therefore, the only legitimate 

conclusion is that the Coney decision was not one of 

0 constitutional magnitude. 

In mted States v. Gaano n, 470 U.S. 522 ,  526-530 (1985) the 

Supreme Court indicated that the right of the defendant to be 

present under Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 

(similar to our rule) is broader than the constitutionally based 

right to be present. 

must be preserved at trial and that waiver of the benefits of the 

In Gag=, the Court held that such claims 

Rule 43 right to be present may be inferred by a defendant’s 

failure to assert the right at trial. Thus, the United States 

Supreme Court recognizes that the Rule 43 right must be asserted 
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at trial by the defendant; our rule should follow the federal 

rule. 

Finally, to state the problem and analysis in a slightly 

different form. The district court and the petitioner fail to 

distinguish between the Coney decision and the prospective rule 

announced in that decision. Coney is applicable to a11 pipeline 

cases, including the one at hand. However, Conev by its terms 

plainly announces that the new procedural rule established 

therein is only applicable to trials which occur after the 

announcement of the new rule. B y  its terms it does provide 

relief to any appellant/petitioner whose trial occurred before 

the Crnnev decision became final. 

t h a t  t h e  issue was not preserved below, it is also uncontroverted 

that the trial occurred before the issuance of w. The 
district court is simply misapprehending the plain language of 

Coney in perceiving a conflict with ,qmith. 

@ Not only is it uncontroverted 

None exists. 

Summary 

The question certified by the district court has already been 

answered and does not rise to the level of a question of great 

public importance. Thus, discretionary review should be denied. 

The Court should also decline review because the petitioner is 

not a member of the pipeline class who could benefit from an a - 
- 1 7 -  



affirmative answer to the certified question, as he did not raise 

the issue at trial. Gibsw 

Finally, the state urges that if this Court answers the

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